FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 22 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 91,519

L.T. # 96-2265

BARBARA WHITE GENTILE,

Petitioner,

vs.

GARY BAUDER,

Respondent.

CORRECTED PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. GINSBURG
Dade County Attorney
Stephen P. Clark Center
Suite 2810
111 N.W. 1st Street
Miami, Florida 33128-1993
Tel: (305) 375-5151
Fax: (305) 375-5634

Ву

Thomas H. Robertson Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 301991

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a Petition to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review a decision of the Third District Court of Appeals which expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Stogniew v. McQueen, 656 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1995), Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., 656 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1995), Mobil Oil Corporation v. Shevin, 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977), and with the First District Court of Appeals' decision in Walsingham v. Dockery, 671 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

The Third District, in this case, has determined that a police officer is collaterally estopped from raising the defense of qualified immunity in a civil rights suit. The collateral estoppel results from issues determined in the criminal action, which the officer was not a party to, resulting in the officer being held per se liable in this action. This appeal arose after the trial court granted the officers Motion For Summary Judgment finding that the officer had acted reasonably in obtaining a search warrant and was therefore entitled to qualified immunity. In so doing, the trial court considered the affidavits and depositions of the Defendant, Barbara White Gentile, (hereafter "Officer Gentile") and Assistant State Attorney, Ruth Solly, which were filed by Officer Gentile. (The affidavits and depositions are contained in the Appendix and will be cited to as "App. ")

Plaintiff, Gary Bauder, (hereafter "Bauder") sued Officer

Gentile for alleged civil rights violations under 42 U.S.C. §1983

seeking to hold the officer personally liable for the results of
a search and arrest. At all times material hereto, Officer

Gentile was a Metro-Dade Police officer within the course and

scope of her position. (App. 51).

As a result of information she had received concerning Bauder being involved in sexual assaults on children, Officer Gentile began an investigation of Bauder. (App. 12-15, 51). Having arrested Bauder before for sexual assaults on children, the officer was familiar with Bauder and conducted an investigation. (App. 12).

The investigation resulted in the officer seeking assistance from the State Attorney's Office with the preparation of a search warrant and supporting affidavit (hereafter "warrant"). (App. 23-25, 40-42, 51-52). To that end, Officer Gentile met with Ruth Solly and Richard Shiffrin of the State Attorneys Office on numerous occasions. (App. 25, 42). At that time, Ms. Solly was a member of the Sexual Battery Division for the State Attorney and Mr. Shiffrin was the Chief of the Legal Division for the State Attorney. (App. 52, 54). The attorneys reviewed the warrant and made changes as they desired. (App. 42, 52, 54). In fact, Shiffrin wrote most of the warrant. (App. 52). Both attorneys advised Officer Gentile that they believed that there was adequate probable cause stated for the warrant. (App. 23-26, 52, 55).

The warrant was presented to a Circuit Court judge who found probable cause and issued the warrant. (App. 26). Prior to this issuance, the warrant was reviewed by Officer Gentile's sergeant and lieutenant who both also believed that the warrant stated probable cause. (App. 23, 52).

Officer Gentile believed that probable cause was adequately stated in the warrant for it to be issued. (App. 31, 53).

After his arrest, Bauder moved to suppress the results of the search. His motion to suppress was heard by a Circuit Court judge who denied the motion. Bauder was later convicted of the charges and appealed that conviction which resulted in the Third District Court's decision in Bauder v. State, 613 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), review denied, 624 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1993), (hereafter "Bauder I") which found probable cause for the warrant to be lacking, and reversed that conviction. (The decision in Bauder I is contained at App. 1).

In response to Officer Gentile's Motion for Summary Judgment in this action, no counter affidavits were filed by Bauder and no evidence of any kind was presented by Bauder. Bauder did not even submit the warrant to the trial court for the summary judgment determination. Bauder relied solely on the decision of the Third District Court in Bauder I to preclude Officer Gentile from asserting any defenses. The trial court ruled for Officer Gentile.

The Third District Court of Appeals' opinion in this case,

Bauder v. Gentile, So.2d , 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1368 (Fla. 3d

DCA 1997) (hereafter "Bauder II"), reversed the summary judgment

and precludes Officer Gentile from raising the defense of qualified immunity based on the prior determination in <u>Bauder I</u> that "the affidavit given in support of a search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause."

<u>Bauder I</u>, at 547. (The decision in <u>Bauder II</u> is contained at App. 2-3). Since the warrant is not a part of the record in this action, it is clear that any determination on the warrant made by the Third District was the result of issue preclusion based upon <u>Bauder I</u>. Just as clear is the fact that <u>Bauder I</u> did not, and could not, decide that "...the warrant application is so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence unreasonable, ... " <u>Malley v. Briggs</u>, 475 U.S. 335, 344, 106 S. Ct. 1092, 89 L. Ed. 2d 217 (1986) since that would not have been an issue in Bauder I.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I.

The Third District's decision in <u>Bauder II</u> conflicts directly and expressly with decisions of this court in applying the decision in <u>Bauder I</u> to collaterally estop Officer Gentile from presenting the defense of qualified immunity. Officer Gentile was not a party to the criminal action and the issue of Officer Gentile's good faith was not decided in <u>Bauder I</u>. Without an identity of parties and issues, collateral estoppel cannot be applied and, as such, <u>Bauder II</u> conflicts expressly and directly with decisions of this Court.

The standard applied by the Third District in <u>Bauder II</u> for when qualified immunity may be lost by an officer conflicts directly and expressly with the standard announced by the United States Supreme Court and adopted by the First District Court of Appeals. By using the standard announced in <u>Bauder I</u> to preclude Officer Gentile from asserting the qualified immunity defense in <u>Bauder II</u>, the Third District's decision in <u>Bauder II</u> directly and expressly conflicts with the U.S. Supreme Court and the First District.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I.

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN APPLYING COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL TO PRECLUDE OFFICER GENTILE FROM ASSERTING HER DEFENSES IN THIS ACTION

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeals, in this action, applies <u>Bauder I</u> as though it has equitable estoppel effect on the parties and issues in this action. The opinion specifically states, "In the instant case, <u>where this Court previously found</u> that 'the affidavit given in support of a search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to

Only two legal doctrines exist whereby a prior decision of a court precludes litigation of issues raised in a subsequent legal action. Those two doctrines are <u>res judicata</u> and equitable estoppel. It is clear that the decision of the Third District cannot give <u>res judicata</u> effect to the prior opinion since <u>res judicata</u> would require identity of the thing sued for. see <u>Personnel One v. John Sommerer & Co.</u>, 564 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Obviously, the thing sued for in a criminal case is different than that sued for in this civil action.

raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause,' ... the shield of immunity is lost." (citation omitted) (emphasis added) In so doing, the Third District precludes Officer Gentile from raising the defense of qualified immunity based solely upon the <u>Bauder I</u> decision.

The opinion directly and expressly conflicts with the large body of case law, including many decisions of this Court, which requires that there must be identity of parties and issues for equitable estoppel to apply. Stogniew v. McQueen, 656 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1995), Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., 656 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1995), Mobil Oil Corporation v. Shevin, 354 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1977)

Officer Gentile was not a party to the criminal case.

Stogniew v. McQueen, supra. (complaining witness not a party or privy and is not "virtually represented" by State DPR for purposes of collateral estoppel). The State of Florida and the defendant are the only parties to a criminal action. Based upon this alone, the Third District's opinion directly and expressly conflicts with the established precedence of this Court set in the Stogniew case and sets a precedent which is contrary to the public interest.

In any action under section 1983 against an officer individually, the officer may raise qualified immunity as a defense. Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S.Ct. 2727, 73 L.Ed.2d 396 (1982), Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 344, 106 S. Ct. 1092, 89 L. Ed. 2d 217 (1986), Lassiter v. Alabama A&M University, 28 F.3d 1146 (11th Cir. 1994) (en banc) Qualified

immunity is based essentially on the good faith of the officer in obtaining the warrant in question. As can be seen from the opinion in Bauder I, the issue of the good faith of Officer Gentile was not decided in the criminal appeal and as such that opinion cannot be used, through collateral estoppel, to preclude Officer Gentile's defenses now. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., superaction, s

None of the prerequisites necessary to applying collateral estoppel are present in this action to allow the preclusion of Officer Gentile's defense nor to reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment. The Third District Court of Appeals opinion reversing the trial court in this matter conflicts directly and expressly with Stogniew, supra., Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, supra, and, Mobil Oil Corporation, supra.

To deny Officer Gentile the opportunity to avail herself of this defense, based solely on a prior ruling in which she did not participate and, in which, the issue involved was not raised, is to deny her due process. Unlike a criminal defendant, who is present to protect his rights, a police officer has no standing, no rights, nor power to affect the litigation decisions or results in a pending criminal case.

Based upon the express and direct conflict of this case with decisions of this Court, this Court has jurisdiction to hear this case and should decide the issue of whether a police officer is a party or privy in a criminal action, such that the State Attorney is virtually representing the officer, such that the offender may use decisions made in the criminal action for collateral estoppel to prevent the officer from presenting a defense in a subsequent civil action.

II.

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN ESTABLISHING THE STANDARD FOR LOSS OF QUALIFIED IMMUNITY

The Third District Court, in using <u>Bauder I</u> to preclude Officer Gentile from raising the defense of qualified immunity, has necessarily found that the standard for when qualified immunity will be lost is when a search warrant is "... totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause." (citations omitted) <u>Bauder I</u>, at 547.

The First District Court of Appeals, in Walsinoham v.

Dockers, 671 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), followed the accepted standard established by the United States Supreme Court in Mallev.

v. Briggs² that "[o]nly where the warrant application is so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence unreasonable will the shield of immunity be

^{2 475} U.S. 335, 106 S.Ct. 1092, 89 L.Ed.3d 271 (1986)

lost. Malley v. Briggs, id. at 344. These standards are completely different and conflicting.

A warrant which is insufficient to raise an officer's suspicions to the level of probable cause -- the standard used by the Third District to eliminate qualified immunity in this case -- may none the less have sufficient indicia of probable cause such that official belief in its existence is <u>not</u> unreasonable -- the standard established by the U.S. Supreme Court for elimination of qualified immunity. This case is an obvious example of that fact.

The Third District has stated that the warrant was insufficient to raise an officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause. However, where, as here, two assistant state attorneys, the police officer involved, a police sergeant, a police lieutenant and two Circuit Court Judges have believed that probable cause was adequately stated, it can hardly be said that the warrant ". . is so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence unreasonable. .." It is certainly reasonable for an officer to accept the legal interpretation of two assistant state attorneys, on whether probable cause is adequately stated in a warrant. This is

It is inconceivable that an officer can be held personally liable for the results of a defective warrant when **the** person to whom she must go for legal advice and whose legal advice she must accept is completely immune. The decision in this case has exactly that effect.

especially true when one of those assistants is the chief of the legal division of the State Attorney's Office.

The result is that the Third District's use of <u>Bauder I</u> to preclude Officer Gentile from asserting qualified immunity conflicts directly and expressly with the First District and the pronouncements of the U.S. Supreme Court on this issue.

This Court has jurisdiction and should assert that jurisdiction to decide the issue of where a police officer has sought the assistance of the State Attorney to draft a search warrant and has been told by the State Attorney that probable cause exists for the issuance of the warrant and the warrant has been issued by a circuit court judge, can the police officer be held personally liable if the warrant lacks probable cause, absent misconduct on the part of the officer.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. GINSBURG
Dade County Attorney
Stephen P. Clark Center
Suite 2810
111 N.W. 1st Street
Miami, Florida 33128-1993

Tel: (305) 375-5151 Fax: (305) **375-5634**

By: // V
Thomas H. Robertson

Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 301991