, <b>,</b>	A ) ]	FILED
IN THE SUPREME CO	URT OF FLORIDA Case No. 91,519	SID J. WHITE OCT 29 1997
BARBARA WHITE GENTILE,	L.T. No. 96-2265	ERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

v.

١r

GARY BAUDER,

Respondent.

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION**

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

and

ANDRE ROUVIERE, ESQ. 145 Almeira Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33124 HEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 19 West Flagler Street, Suite 407 Miami, Florida 33130 Tele.: (305)377-2356 Cooperating attorneys, Greater Miami Chapter of A.C.L.U.

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Petitioner, Barbara White Gentile, presented a sworn affidavit in support of a search warrant for the residence of the Respondent, Gary Bauder, to a Circuit Judge in Dade County, Florida on or about January 7, 1991. The Circuit Judge issued the search warrant for the Respondent's residence.

The Petitioner executed the search warrant on the Respondent's residence, on or about January 11, 1991, and seized various items of personal property and effects. The Petitioner arrested the respondent for various alleged criminal offenses.

The State of Florida prosecuted the Respondent for various alleged criminal offenses and he was convicted. The basis of the State's case was the evidence seized from the Respondent's residence by the Petitioner, and other evidence derived as a result of the seizure.

The Respondent's conviction was reversed. *Bauder v. State*, 613 So.2d 547 (3d DCA 1993), *review denied*, 624 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1993).

The Respondent sued the Petitioner and Metropolitan Dade County<sup>1</sup> in a four count complaint. Count IV was brought pursuant to the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and 42 U.S.C. 1983.

The Petitioner filed a motion for summary judgment asserting qualified immunity.

The Trial Court entered an order granting the Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment and Final Summary Judgment (R. 94).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Metropolitan Dade County is not a party to this proceeding.

The Respondent appealed.

The Third District reversed. It held that:

"In *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 335, 106 S.Ct. 1092, 89 L.Ed.2d 271 (1986), the United States Supreme Court held that 'objective reasonableness. . . defines the qualified immunity accorded an officer whose request for a warrant allegedly caused an unconstitutional arrest.' *Malley*, 475 U.S. at 344. Further, '[o]nly where the warrant application is so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence unreasonable . . . will the shield of immunity be lost.' *Malley*, 475 U.S. at 344-45.

In the instant case, where this Court previously found that 'the affidavit given in support of a search warrant was totally devoid of factual recitations sufficient to raise the affiant-officer's suspicion to the level of probable cause,' *Bauder v. State*, 613 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA), *review denied*, 624 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1993), the shield of immunity is lost. Accordingly, we find that the Trial Court erred, as a matter of law, by granting the defendant police officer's motion for summary judgment.

Reversed and remanded." (*Bauder v. Gentile*, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_, 22 F.L.W. D1368 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (App.1-2)

The Petitioner's Petition for Review followed.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

,

,

.

There is no conflict jurisdiction because the Third District's opinion did not even mention collateral estoppel.

There also is no conflict jurisdiction because *Walsingham v. Dockery*, 671 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1996), and the Third District's opinion in this case not only are not in conflict, they are in harmony.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## THIS COURT HAS NO JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THE PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW.

First, there is no conceivable conflict. The Third District's opinion does not even *mention* collateral estoppel. Indeed, the Petitioner did not even raise the issue until she filed her Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing *En Banc*.

Second, the Petitioner's citation of *Walsingham v. Dockery*, 671 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1996), quite frankly, is silly. *Walsingham* cited *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 335, 106 S.Ct. 1092 (1986), for the unremarkable proposition that if officers of reasonable competence can disagree about whether a warrant should issue, immunity should be recognized. However, here, the Third District held that the affidavit that the Petitioner presented to obtain the search warrant was *totally devoid* of factual recitations sufficient to raise her suspicion to the level of probable cause. Such an affidavit, by definition, is one which no reasonably objective police officer would submit to a judge.

The Petitioner's complaint about the terrible burden placed upon her was rejected by the Supreme Court in *Malley*:

"...where a magistrate acts mistakenly in issuing a warrant but within the range of professional competence of a magistrate, the officer who requested the warrant cannot be held liable. But it is different if no officer of reasonable competence would have requested the warrant, i.e., his request is outside the range of the professional competence expected of an officer. If the magistrate issues the warrant in such a case, his action is not just a reasonable mistake, but an unacceptable error indicating gross incompetence or neglect of duty. The officer then cannot excuse his own default by pointing to the greater incompetence of the magistrate." (475 U.S. 346, n.9, 106 S.Ct. at 1098-1099, n.9) (Emphasis Added)

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Petitioner's Petition for Review must be denied.

ANDRE ROUVIERE, ESQ. and 145 Almeira Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33124 JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 19 West Flagler Street, Suite 407 Miami, Florida 33130 Tele.: (305)377-2356 Cooperating attorneys, Greater Miami Chapter of A.C.L.U.